# Primer



Fines for Organizations



Prepared by the Office of the General Counsel

# DISCLAIMER

The Commission's legal staff publishes this document to assist in understanding and applying the sentencing guidelines. The information in this document should not be considered definitive or comprehensive. In addition, the information in this document does not necessarily represent the official position of the Commission on any particular issue or case, and it is not binding on the Commission, the courts, or the parties in any case. To the extent this document includes unpublished cases, practitioners should be cognizant of Fed. R. App. P. 32.1, as well as any corresponding rules in their jurisdictions.

Want to learn more about relevant statutes, case law, and guidelines on a specific topic? The Commission's legal staff offers a series of primers to assist in understanding and applying the sentencing guidelines on the following topics—

- Aggravating and Mitigating Role Adjustments
- Antitrust Offenses
- Categorical Approach
- Offenses Involving Commercial Sex Acts and Sexual Exploitation of Minors
- Computer Crimes
- Crime Victims' Rights
- Criminal History
- Departures and Variances
- Drug Offenses
- Economic Crime Victims
- Fines for Organizations

- Firearms Offenses
- Immigration Offenses
- Intellectual Property Offenses
- Loss Calculation under §2B1.1
- Relevant Conduct
- Retroactivity
- RICO Offenses
- Selected Offenses Against the Person and VICAR
- Sexual Abuse and Failure to Register Offenses
- Supervised Release

Learn more at https://www.ussc.gov/guidelines/primers.

### UNITED STATES SENTENCING COMMISSION

One Columbus Circle, N.E. Suite 2-500, South Lobby Washington, DC 20002-8002 T: (202) 502-4500 F: (202) 502-4699 www.ussc.gov ∥ ≫@theusscgov



This document was produced and published at U.S. taxpayer expense.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

I.	INTR	TRODUCTION	
II.		CALCULATION FOR ORGANIZATIONS OPERATING PRIMARILY FOR A CRIMINAL PURPOSE OR BY CRIMINAL NS (§8C1.1)	
III.	FINE CALCULATION FOR ALL OTHER ORGANIZATIONS (§§8C2.1-8C2.10)		2
	А.	Applicability of Fine Guidelines (§8C2.1)	2
	B.	Preliminary Determination of Inability to Pay Fine (§8C2.2)	3
	C.	Offense Level (§8C2.3)	4
	D.	Base Fine (§8C2.4)	4
	E.	Culpability Score (§8C2.5)	5
	F.	Minimum and Maximum Multipliers (§8C2.6)	7
	G.	Guideline Fine Range — Organization (§8C2.7)	7
	H.	Determining the Fine Within the Range (Policy Statement) (§8C2.8)	8
	I.	Disgorgement (§8C2.9)	8
	J.	Determining the Fine for Other Counts (§8C2.10)	8
IV.	IMPLEMENTING THE SENTENCE OF A FINE (§§8C3.1–8C3.4)		
	A.	Imposing a Fine (§8C3.1)	9
	B.	Payment of the Fine — Organizations (§8C3.2)1	0
	C.	Reduction of Fine Based on Inability to Pay (§8C3.3)1	0
	D.	Fines Paid by Owners of Closely Held Organizations (§8C3.4)1	1
V.	Depa	RTURES FROM THE GUIDELINE FINE RANGE (§§8c4.1–8c4.11)1	.1



#### I. INTRODUCTION

Chapter Eight of the *Guidelines Manual* sets forth the guidelines and policy statements that apply when the convicted defendant is an organization, rather than an individual, and provides the criteria by which organizations convicted of federal criminal offenses will be punished. These guidelines, initially promulgated by the Commission in 1991, were developed after extensive consultation with industry representatives, defense attorneys, federal judges, prosecutors, and federal probation officers. They are "designed so that the sanctions imposed upon organizations and their agents, taken together, will provide just punishment, adequate deterrence, and incentives for organizations to maintain internal mechanisms for preventing, detecting, and reporting criminal conduct."<sup>1</sup>

As noted in the Introductory Commentary, the Chapter Eight guidelines reflect several general principles relating to the sentencing of organizations. First, the court must, whenever practicable, order the organization to remedy any harm caused by the offense.<sup>2</sup> The harm may be remedied through a restitution order, a remedial order, an order of probation requiring restitution or community service, or an order of notice to victims.<sup>3</sup> Second, when the court determines the appropriate fine to impose on the organization,<sup>4</sup> if the organization operated primarily for a criminal purpose or primarily by criminal means, the court should set the fine sufficiently high to divest the organization of all its assets.<sup>5</sup> Third, for all other organizations, the court should base the fine range on the seriousness of the offense and the culpability of the organization.<sup>6</sup> Finally, the court may order probation for an organizational defendant when needed to ensure that another sanction will be fully implemented or to ensure that steps will be taken within the organization to reduce the likelihood of further criminal conduct.<sup>7</sup>

This primer focuses exclusively on the second and third general principles noted above—the way a sentencing court calculates the appropriate fine for an organizational defendant. This determination is made pursuant to Chapter Eight, Part C of the *Guidelines Manual*. Although this primer identifies some of the key cases and concepts relating to organizational fines, it is not a comprehensive compilation of authority nor intended to be a substitute for independent research and analysis of primary sources.

<sup>2</sup> Id.

- <sup>3</sup> See USSG Ch.8, Pt.B, intro. comment.
- <sup>4</sup> See USSG §8A1.2(b).

<sup>7</sup> Id.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> U.S. SENT'G COMM'N, *Guidelines Manual*, Ch.8, intro. comment. (Nov. 2018) [hereinafter USSG].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> USSG Ch.8, intro. comment; *see also* USSG §8C1.1 (Determining the Fine – Criminal Purpose Organizations).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> USSG Ch.8, intro. comment.

#### II. FINE CALCULATION FOR ORGANIZATIONS OPERATING PRIMARILY FOR A CRIMINAL PURPOSE OR BY CRIMINAL MEANS (§8C1.1)

To calculate the fine, the court applies §8C1.1 if, upon consideration of the offense and history and characteristics of the organization, it determines that the organization operated primarily for a criminal purpose or primarily by criminal means.<sup>8</sup> Examples of organizations operating primarily for a criminal purpose include a front for a scheme that was designed to commit fraud or an organization established to participate in the illegal manufacture, importation, or distribution of a controlled substance.<sup>9</sup> An example of an organization that operates primarily by criminal means would be a hazardous waste disposal business that had no legitimate means of disposing of hazardous waste.<sup>10</sup>

Where an organization operates primarily for a criminal purpose or primarily by criminal means, the court shall set the fine at an amount, subject to the statutory maximum, sufficient to divest the organization of all its net assets.<sup>11</sup> "Net assets" means the assets remaining after payment of all legitimate claims against assets by known innocent bona fide creditors.<sup>12</sup> If the extent of the assets of the organization is unknown, the court is to impose the maximum fine authorized by statute, absent innocent bona fide creditors.<sup>13</sup> When §8C1.1 applies, Chapter Eight, Part C, Subpart 2, regarding determining the fine for all other organizations, and §8C3.4, regarding fines paid by owners of closely held organizations, do not apply.<sup>14</sup>

#### III. FINE CALCULATION FOR ALL OTHER ORGANIZATIONS (§§8C2.1-8C2.10)

Sections 8C2.1 through 8C2.10 guide the court's determination of a fine range for those organizations that do not operate primarily for a criminal purpose or primarily by criminal means.

#### A. APPLICABILITY OF FINE GUIDELINES (§8C2.1)

As explained in §8C2.1, the rules for calculating the fine range in §§8C2.2 through 8C2.9 are limited to specifically-enumerated offenses for which pecuniary loss or harm can

<sup>8</sup> USSG §§8A1.2(b)(1), 8C1.1.

- <sup>9</sup> See USSG §8C1.1, comment. (backg'd.).
- <sup>10</sup> *Id.*

<sup>11</sup> USSG §8C1.1; *see also, e.g.*, United States v. Najjar, 300 F.3d 466, 486 (4th Cir. 2002) (upholding as not excessive "death penalty fine under §8C1.1" divesting corporate defendant of all its assets where the corporate defendant was "conceived in crime and performed little or no legitimate business activity").

- <sup>12</sup> USSG §8C1.1, comment. (n.1).
- <sup>13</sup> USSG §8C1.1, comment. (backg'd.).
- <sup>14</sup> USSG §8C1.1.

be more readily quantified, such as fraud, theft, and tax offenses.<sup>15</sup> The applicable Chapter Two guidelines covered by §§8C2.2 through 8C2.9 are listed in §8C2.1(a). As discussed in more detail below, in organizational cases involving offenses referenced to the enumerated Chapter Two guidelines, the fine calculation first requires computation of the applicable Chapter Two offense level.

In addition, §§8C2.2 through 8C2.9 apply to offenses sentenced pursuant to §§2E1.1 (covering RICO offenses), 2X1.1 (Attempt, Solicitation, or Conspiracy), 2X2.1 (Aiding and Abetting), 2X3.1 (Accessory after the Fact), and 2X4.1 (Misprision of Felony), but only for cases in which the offense level for the underlying offense is determined under one of the guideline sections in the list at §8C2.1(a).<sup>16</sup> For example, if an organizational defendant is found guilty of aiding and abetting a fraud, §2X2.1 directs that the organization's offense level is the same level as that for the underlying offense, which in this case would be determined pursuant to §2B1.1, a guideline section listed at §8C2.1(a). Similarly, the provisions of §§8C2.2 through 8C2.9 apply if the Chapter Two offense is not listed in §8C2.1, but the applicable guideline results in the determination of the offense level by use of a listed guideline.<sup>17</sup>

The organizational guidelines do not contain fine provisions for most offenses that involve environmental pollution, food, drugs, agricultural and consumer products, civil/individual rights, administration of justice (*e.g.*, contempt, obstruction of justice, and perjury), or national defense.<sup>18</sup> Pursuant to §8C2.10 (Determining the Fine for Other Counts), the court should determine the appropriate fine based on the general statutory provisions governing sentencing, 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553 and 3572, for those counts for which the applicable guideline is not listed in either §8C2.1(a) or (b).<sup>19</sup>

#### B. PRELIMINARY DETERMINATION OF INABILITY TO PAY FINE (§8C2.2)

The court need not make a complete determination of the guideline fine range in a case in which the organizational defendant lacks the ability to pay restitution or the minimum fine called for by §8C2.7(a).<sup>20</sup> Where it is readily ascertainable that the organization cannot and is not likely to become able to pay the restitution required under §8B1.1 (Restitution – Organizations), a determination of the fine range is unnecessary because, pursuant to subsection (a) of §8C3.3 (Reduction of Fine Based on Inability to

- <sup>17</sup> USSG §8C2.1(b) and comment. (n.2).
- <sup>18</sup> See USSG §8C2.1(a) and comment. (backg'd).
- <sup>19</sup> See also infra discussion Part III.J.

<sup>20</sup> See USSG §8C2.2 and comment. (backg'd.); see also, e.g., United States v. Acambaro Mexican Rest., Inc., 631 F.3d 880, 884–85 (8th Cir. 2011) (upholding the district court's findings, pursuant to the two-part test in §8C2.2(b), that it was "not readily ascertainable" from the record that the corporate defendant was unable to pay the minimum fine and, even if it could not presently pay the fine, it was likely to become able to pay it.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See USSG §8C2.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> USSG §8C2.1(b).

Pay), no fine would be imposed.<sup>21</sup> Moreover, where it is readily ascertainable through a preliminary determination of the minimum of the guideline fine range that the organization cannot and is not likely to become able to pay such a minimum guideline fine, the court may use the preliminary determination and impose the fine that would result from the application of §8C3.3.<sup>22</sup>

#### C. OFFENSE LEVEL (§8C2.3)

For counts covered by the guideline sections listed at §8C2.1, the court first determines the total offense level by calculating the base offense level and any applicable enhancements contained in the applicable Chapter Two guideline.<sup>23</sup> Where there is more than one count, the court applies the same rules from Chapter Three, Part D (Multiple Counts) that are used for individual defendants to determine the combined offense level.<sup>24</sup>

In determining the offense level, the court applies the provisions of §§1B1.2 through 1B1.8 (relating to general guideline application, such as the determination of the applicable guideline(s), relevant conduct rules, and the significance of commentary) but does not apply the adjustments in Chapter Three, Parts A (Victim-Related Adjustments), B (Role in the Offense), C (Obstruction and Related Adjustments), and E (Acceptance of Responsibility).<sup>25</sup>

#### **D. BASE FINE (§8C2.4)**

Under §8C2.4, the court determines the base fine in one of three ways: (1) by using the fine amount from the table in §8C2.4(d) that corresponds to the offense level determined under §8C2.3;<sup>26</sup> (2) by using the pecuniary gain to the organization from the offense; or (3) by using the pecuniary loss caused by the organization, to the extent that such loss was caused intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly.<sup>27</sup> Whichever method results in the greatest base fine amount is applied.

The guidelines provide two exceptions to these methods. First, if the applicable offense guideline in Chapter Two contains a special instruction for organizational fines, the

- <sup>23</sup> USSG §8C2.3(a).
- <sup>24</sup> USSG §8C2.3(b).
- <sup>25</sup> USSG §8C2.3, comment. (n.2).

<sup>26</sup> The offense level fine table at §8C2.4(d) outlines the fine amount associated with each offense level. When combined with the multipliers in §8C2.6, which are derived from the culpability score in §8C2.5, the applicable guideline fine range results. *See* USSG §§8A1.2(b)(2), 8C2.4(d), 8C2.5, 8C2.6; *see also infra* Section III.E – Culpability Score (§8C2.5) and Section III.F – Minimum and Maximum Multipliers (§8C2.6).

<sup>27</sup> USSG §8C2.4(a)(1)–(3) and comment. (backg'd.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> USSG §8C2.2(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> USSG §8C2.2(b).

court shall apply that special instruction.<sup>28</sup> For example, the offense guidelines for antitrust violations and most bribery and kickback offenses include specific formulations for calculating fines for organizations.<sup>29</sup> Second, to the extent that the calculation of either pecuniary gain or pecuniary loss would unduly complicate or prolong the sentencing process, the court shall not use the pecuniary gain or loss for the determination of the base fine.<sup>30</sup>

In amendments that became effective on November 1, 2015, the Commission revised the fine table at §8C2.4 to account for inflationary changes since 1991, when the table was last substantially amended.<sup>31</sup> The amendment also included a special instruction providing that, for offenses committed prior to November 1, 2015, the court shall use the fine provisions that were in effect on November 1, 2014, rather than the new fine provisions, to account for any potential *ex post facto* problems that may result from an offender being sentenced under the revised *Guidelines Manual.*<sup>32</sup>

#### E. CULPABILITY SCORE (§8C2.5)

After calculating the base fine, the sentencing court must determine the organization's culpability score. The court starts with a culpability score of five points and then adds or subtracts points for certain aggravating and mitigating factors.<sup>33</sup>

The guideline lists four aggravating factors that increase the culpability score. The first aggravating factor concerns high-level or substantial authority personnel in organizations of varying sizes who participate in, condone, or are willfully ignorant of criminal activity. The organization's culpability score is increased by between one and five points depending on the number of employees in the organization or unit of the organization, and the involvement of individuals who are either within high-level personnel or substantial authority personnel.<sup>34</sup>

The commentary to the guidelines defines the terms "high-level personnel of the organization" and "substantial authority personnel." "High-level personnel of the organization" means individuals who have substantial control over the organization or who have a substantial role in the making of policy within the organization, such as directors, executive officers, individuals in charge of sales, administration, or finance,

- <sup>29</sup> See, e.g., USSG §§2R1.1(d); 2B4.1(c); 2C1.1(d).
- <sup>30</sup> USSG §8C2.4(c).
- <sup>31</sup> See USSG App. C, amend. 791 (effective Nov. 1, 2015).
- <sup>32</sup> *Id.; see also* USSG §§1B1.11 and 8C2.4(e).
- <sup>33</sup> USSG §8C2.5(a)–(g).

<sup>34</sup> USSG §8C2.5(b)(1)–(5); *see also, e.g.*, United States v. Electrodyne Sys. Corp., 147 F.3d 250, 255–56 (3d Cir. 1998) (vacating and remanding for district court to, among other things, make factual finding relating to the number of employees that the corporate defendant had during the relevant time period).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> USSG §8C2.4(b).

and individuals with substantial ownership interests.<sup>35</sup> "Substantial authority personnel" means individuals who within the scope of their authority exercise a substantial measure of discretion in acting on behalf of an organization, such as plant managers, sales managers, individuals with authority to negotiate or set price levels, or individuals authorized to negotiate or approve significant contracts.<sup>36</sup>

The second aggravating factor relates to the organization's prior history of misconduct. The court adds one or two points to the organization's culpability score if the organization committed the instant offense within a specified time after a criminal adjudication based on similar misconduct or a civil or administrative adjudication based on two or more separate instances of similar misconduct.<sup>37</sup>

The third aggravating factor increases the culpability score by one or two points if the commission of the instant offense violated a judicial order or injunction, or the organization violated a condition of probation.<sup>38</sup>

The fourth aggravating factor concerns obstruction of justice. Under this provision, if the organization willfully obstructed or impeded, attempted to obstruct or impede, or aided, abetted or encouraged obstruction of justice during the investigation, prosecution, or sentencing of the instant offense, the court adds three points to the organization's culpability score.<sup>39</sup> Similarly, this three-point enhancement also applies if the organization knew of such obstruction or impedance, or attempted obstruction or impedance, and failed to take reasonable steps to prevent it.<sup>40</sup>

The guideline further lists two mitigating factors that decrease the culpability score. The first allows the court to subtract three points from the organization's culpability score if the organization had an effective compliance and ethics program (as defined in §8B2.1) in place at the time of the offense.<sup>41</sup> This reduction should be denied, however, if the organization unreasonably delayed reporting the offense to the appropriate governmental authorities or under specified instances in which high-level or substantial authority personnel participated in, condoned, or were willfully ignorant of the offense.<sup>42</sup> Note,

- <sup>39</sup> USSG §8C2.5(e).
- <sup>40</sup> *Id.*
- <sup>41</sup> USSG §8C2.5(f)(1).
- <sup>42</sup> USSG §8C2.5(f)(2)-(3)(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> USSG §8A1.2, comment. (n.3(B)). With respect to a unit with 200 or more employees, "high-level personnel of a unit of the organization" means agents within the unit who set the policy for or control that unit. USSG §8C2.5, comment. (n.3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> USSG §8A1.2, comment. (n.3(C)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> USSG §8C2.5(c)(1)-(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> USSG §8C2.5(d)(1)-(2).

however, that the involvement of high-level or substantial authority personnel is not an absolute bar to this reduction.  $^{\rm 43}$ 

The second mitigating factor decreases the culpability score by five points if the organization, prior to an imminent threat of disclosure or government investigation, self-reported the offense to the appropriate governmental authorities, fully cooperated in the investigation, and clearly demonstrated recognition and affirmative acceptance of responsibility for its conduct.<sup>44</sup> If the organization did not self-report, but fully cooperated in the investigation and accepted responsibility for its conduct, the culpability score is reduced by two points.<sup>45</sup> Finally, if the organization did not self-report or cooperate, but clearly demonstrated recognition and affirmative acceptance of responsibility for its conduct, the culpability score is reduced by one point.<sup>46</sup>

#### F. MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM MULTIPLIERS (§8C2.6)

Once the court has determined the culpability score, it next looks to the table in §8C2.6 to identify the minimum and maximum multipliers that correspond to that culpability score.<sup>47</sup> For instance, a culpability score of ten or more results in a minimum multiplier of 2.00 and a maximum multiplier of 4.00, while a culpability score of three results in a minimum multiplier of 0.60 and a maximum multiplier of 1.20. The minimum and maximum multipliers then are used to calculate the guideline fine range under §8C2.7.<sup>48</sup> Note that a special instruction for an organizational fine in §2R1.1 (Bid-Rigging, Price-Fixing or Market-Allocation Agreements Among Competitors) sets a floor for minimum and maximum multipliers in cases covered by that guideline.<sup>49</sup>

#### G. GUIDELINE FINE RANGE — ORGANIZATION (§8C2.7)

The guideline fine range is then determined by multiplying the base fine calculated under §8C2.4 by both the minimum multiplier calculated under §8C2.6, which yields the minimum of the guideline fine range, and by the maximum multiplier calculated under §8C2.6, which yields the maximum of the guideline fine range.<sup>50</sup> For example, if the base fine is \$85,000 and the culpability score is five, the base fine is multiplied by 1.00 to determine the minimum fine and by 2.00 to determine the maximum fine, resulting in a guideline fine range of \$85,000 to \$170,000.

- <sup>43</sup> USSG §8C2.5(f)(3)(B)–(C).
- <sup>44</sup> USSG §8C2.5(g)(1).
- <sup>45</sup> USSG §8C2.5(g)(2).
- <sup>46</sup> USSG §8C2.5(g)(3).
- <sup>47</sup> USSG §8C2.6.
- <sup>48</sup> USSG §8C2.7.
- <sup>49</sup> USSG §8C2.6, comment. (n.1).
- <sup>50</sup> USSG §8C2.7(a)–(b).

#### H. DETERMINING THE FINE WITHIN THE RANGE (POLICY STATEMENT) (§8C2.8)

The policy statement at §8C2.8(a) instructs the court to consider certain factors under 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553(a) and 3572(a), as well as additional factors that the Commission concluded may be relevant, in determining the appropriate fine in a particular case, such as any non-pecuniary loss caused or threatened by the offense and whether the organization failed to have an effective compliance and ethics program at the time of the offense.<sup>51</sup> In addition, §8C2.8(b) allows a court to consider the relative importance of any factor used to determine the fine range, so that a court is able to differentiate between cases that have the same offense level but differ in seriousness, or between two cases with the same aggravating factors but where the factors vary in their intensity.<sup>52</sup>

#### I. DISGORGEMENT (§8C2.9)

Once the court has determined the fine pursuant to §8C2.8, it must add to that fine any gain that the organization has made from the offense that has not and will not be paid as restitution or through any other remedial measure.<sup>53</sup> This section typically will apply in cases where, although the organization received a gain from the offense, the offense did not result in harm to identifiable victims.<sup>54</sup> Examples include money laundering, obscenity, and regulatory reporting offenses.<sup>55</sup>

#### J. DETERMINING THE FINE FOR OTHER COUNTS (§8C2.10)

The Commission has not promulgated guidelines for determining the fines for counts not covered by §8C2.1, such as environmental pollution offenses.<sup>56</sup> For such counts, the court should determine an appropriate fine by applying the provisions of 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553 and 3572.<sup>57</sup> In a case that has a count or counts not covered by §8C2.1 in addition to a count or counts covered by that guideline, the court is to apply the fine guidelines for the count(s) covered by the guidelines and add any additional amount to the fine, as appropriate, for the count(s) not covered.<sup>58</sup>

- <sup>52</sup> USSG §8C2.8(b); *see also* USSG §8C2.8, comment. (n.7).
- <sup>53</sup> USSG §8C2.9.
- <sup>54</sup> See USSG §8C2.9, comment. (n.1).
- <sup>55</sup> Id.
- <sup>56</sup> See USSG §8C2.10, comment. (backg'd.).
- <sup>57</sup> USSG §8C2.10.
- <sup>58</sup> USSG §8C2.10, comment. (backg'd).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> USSG §8C2.8(a)(1)–(11); *see also* USSG §8C2.8, comment. (backg'd.).

#### IV. IMPLEMENTING THE SENTENCE OF A FINE (§§8C3.1–8C3.4)

#### A. IMPOSING A FINE (§8C3.1)

Section 8C3.1 describes the interaction of the fine or fine range determined under the guidelines with the maximum fine allowed by statute and any minimum fine required by statute. Where the minimum guideline fine is greater than the maximum fine authorized by statute, the court must impose the maximum fine authorized by statute.<sup>59</sup> Where the maximum guideline fine is less than the minimum fine required by statute, the court must import the minimum fine required by statute.<sup>60</sup> When an organization is convicted of multiple counts, the maximum fine authorized may increase because the maximum fine for each count of conviction may be added together for an aggregated maximum authorized fine.<sup>61</sup>

In Southern Union Co. v. United States, the Supreme Court held that the principle set forth in Apprendi v. New Jersey<sup>62</sup>—that the Sixth Amendment reserves to juries the determination of any fact (other than the fact of prior conviction) that increases a criminal defendant's maximum potential sentence—applies to criminal fines levied against a corporation.<sup>63</sup> Southern Union was convicted under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), which provides for penalties of "a fine of not more than \$50,000 for each day of violation."<sup>64</sup> At trial, the jury returned a general verdict convicting Southern Union of violating the RCRA during the entire time period alleged in the indictment.<sup>65</sup>

At sentencing, the PSR calculated a maximum fine of \$38.1 million based on Southern Union violating the RCRA for 762 days.<sup>66</sup> Southern Union objected, arguing that this calculation violated *Apprendi* because the jury was not asked to determine the exact duration of the violation and only returned a general verdict listing an approximate start date of the violation.<sup>67</sup> The government argued that *Apprendi* does not apply to fines.<sup>68</sup>

The district court held that *Apprendi* does apply to fines but concluded that the "content and context of the verdict all together" demonstrated that the jury did in fact find that the duration of the violation was 762 days; thus, no judicial fact-finding was

- <sup>61</sup> See USSG §8C3.1, comment. (backg'd).
- <sup>62</sup> 530 U.S. 466 (2000).
- <sup>63</sup> S. Union Co. v. United States, 567 U.S. 343, 360 (2012).
- <sup>64</sup> *Id.* at 347; *see also* 42 U.S.C. § 6928(d).
- <sup>65</sup> *S. Union Co.*, 567 U.S. at 347.
- <sup>66</sup> Id.
- <sup>67</sup> Id.
- <sup>68</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> USSG §8C3.1(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> USSG §8C3.1(c).

necessary to establish a maximum fine of \$38.1 million.<sup>69</sup> Ultimately, the district court imposed a \$6 million fine and a \$12 million "community service obligation." The First Circuit rejected both findings of the district court, holding that the jury did not find a violation for each day and that *Apprendi* did not apply to criminal fines.<sup>70</sup>

The Supreme Court granted *certiorari* to resolve a circuit split on the question of whether *Apprendi* applies to the calculation of criminal fines and determined that it does.<sup>71</sup> The Court explained that criminal fines, like other punishments, are penalties inflicted by the sovereign and are frequently imposed based on "reference to particular facts."<sup>72</sup> The Court found that whenever a jury must find certain facts that increase maximum punishments beyond a reasonable doubt, it is "necessary to implement *Apprendi's* 'animating principle': the 'preservation of the jury's historic role as a bulwark between the State and the accused at the trial for an alleged offense.' "<sup>73</sup> The Court also rejected the government's argument that because fines are less onerous than incarceration, they do not trigger the protections of the Sixth Amendment.<sup>74</sup>

#### **B. PAYMENT OF THE FINE — ORGANIZATIONS (§8C3.2)**

For organizations that operated primarily for a criminal purpose or primarily by criminal means, the court must order immediate payment of the fine.<sup>75</sup> In any other case, the court must order immediate payment unless it finds that the organization is financially unable to make immediate payment or that such payment would pose an undue burden on the organization.<sup>76</sup> If such a finding is made, the court shall require full payment at the earliest possible date, either by setting a date certain or by establishing an installment schedule.<sup>77</sup> In no event should the period provided for payment exceed five years.<sup>78</sup>

#### C. REDUCTION OF FINE BASED ON INABILITY TO PAY (§8C3.3)

The court must reduce the fine below the guideline fine if imposition of such fine

- <sup>70</sup> Id.
- <sup>71</sup> *Id.* at 348, 360.
- <sup>72</sup> *Id.* at 349.

<sup>73</sup> *Id.* at 350; *see also, e.g.*, United States v. W. Coast Aluminum Heat Treating Co., 265 F.3d 986, 994 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) (affirming the defendant corporation's fine because the fine amount actually imposed remained below the statutory maximum and, thus, did not violate the rule in *Apprendi*).

- <sup>74</sup> *S. Union Co.*, 567 U.S. at 350–51.
- <sup>75</sup> USSG §8C3.2(a).
- <sup>76</sup> USSG §8C3.2(b).
- <sup>77</sup> Id.
- <sup>78</sup> USSG §8C3.2, comment. (n.1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Id.

would impair the organization's ability to make restitution to its victims.<sup>79</sup> The court may impose a fine below the guideline fine if the court finds that the organization is not able to pay and, even with the use of a reasonable installment schedule, is not likely to become able to pay the minimum fine required. Such a reduction shall not be more than necessary to avoid substantially jeopardizing the continued viability of the organization.<sup>80</sup>

#### D. FINES PAID BY OWNERS OF CLOSELY HELD ORGANIZATIONS (§8C3.4)

The court may offset the fine for a closely held organization when one or more individuals, each of whom owns at least a five percent interest in the organization, has been fined in a federal criminal proceeding for the same offense conduct.<sup>81</sup> An organization is closely held, regardless of its size, when relatively few individuals own it.<sup>82</sup> The organizational fine is offset by an amount that reflects the percentage ownership interest of the sentenced individuals and the fine amount imposed on those individuals.<sup>83</sup> For example, in a case in which five individuals own an organization, each with a 20 percent interest, and three of the individuals are convicted and fined a total of \$100,000, the fine imposed upon the organization can be offset by up to 60 percent of their combined fine amounts, *i.e.*, by \$60,000.<sup>84</sup>

#### V. DEPARTURES FROM THE GUIDELINE FINE RANGE (§§8C4.1-8C4.11)

Sections 8C4.1 through 8C4.11 set forth some of the factors that may constitute grounds for departure from the applicable guideline fine range in Chapter Eight cases. This list of factors is not exhaustive. Departures may be warranted if the court finds "that there exists an aggravating or mitigating circumstance of a kind, or to a degree, not adequately taken into consideration by the Sentencing Commission in formulating the guidelines that should result in a sentence different from that described."<sup>85</sup>

The factors that may warrant departure include:

 the organization's substantial assistance to the authorities in the investigation or prosecution of crimes committed by individuals not directly affiliated with the organization or by other organizations, upon motion of the government stating same (§8C4.1);

- <sup>82</sup> USSG §8C3.4, comment. (n.1).
- <sup>83</sup> See USSG §8C3.4, comment. (backg'd).
- <sup>84</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> USSG §8C3.3(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> USSG §8C3.3(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> USSG §8C3.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> 18 U.S.C. § 3553(b); USSG Ch.8, Pt.C(4), intro. comment.

- (2) the offense resulted in death or bodily injury, or involved a foreseeable risk of death or bodily injury (§8C4.2);
- (3) the offense constituted a threat to national security (§8C4.3);
- (4) the offense presented a threat to the environment (§8C4.4);
- (5) the offense presented a risk to the integrity or continued existence of a private or public market (§8C4.5);
- the organization, in connection with the offense, bribed or unlawfully gave a gratuity to a public official, or attempted or conspired to do so (§8C4.6);
- (7) the organization is a public entity (§8C4.7);
- (8) the members or beneficiaries, other than shareholders, of the organization are direct victims of the offense (§8C4.8);
- the organization has paid or has agreed to pay remedial costs that greatly exceed the gain the organization received from the offense (§8C4.9);
- (10) the organization's culpability score was reduced for having an effective compliance and ethics program, but it had implemented that program in response to a court order or administrative order, or the organization was required to have such a program, but did not (§8C4.10); and,
- (11) the organization's culpability score is greater than ten (§8C4.11).<sup>86</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> USSG §§8C4.1–4.11.